# Climate Justice as a Foundation for Climate Migration Policy

JULIA HÄGGSTRÖM 2015 MVEK02 EXAMENSARBETE FÖR KANDIDATEXAMEN 15 HP MILJÖVETENSKAP | LUNDS UNIVERSITET



# **Abstract**

'Prediction is very difficult, especially about the future.'

Niels Bohr

This thesis aims to examine the relationship between climate justice and climate migration. The goal is to describe this relationship's place in international policy making. Impacts from climate change will make certain areas of the world uninhabitable, inducing so-called "climate migration". The number of migrants is predicted to be between 200 million and 250 million by 2050. Currently, there is no international law or mechanism that protects people displaced by climate change, something that is crucial in order to avoid a humanitarian disaster. Through a literary study of previous research a few of the proposals for forming international law concerning climate migrants that have been put forward will be outlined. The most frequently brought up proposals are adding a separate section to the United Nations Framework on Climate Change (UNFCCC), adding climate migrants to existing international laws on refugees or creating a new and separate treaty. When developing mechanisms for climate migration, a foundation in climate justice allows responsibility to be put on those who caused the problem. However, the concept of climate justice is not a set principle in international law, making it difficult to use as anything more than an argument if not a completely new treaty is drafted. By incorporating existing human rights law and treaties on climate change into climate migration mechanisms, a cohesive and just migration process where human well-being is in focus can be realized whilst the time-consuming process of creating an entirely new treaty is avoided.

# Keywords

Climate migration, Climate migrants, Climate refugees, Climate justice, International policy, International politics, Climate change.

### Julia Häggström

MVEK02 Examensarbete för Kandidatexamen 15 hp, Lunds universitet

Internal Advisor: Jasmine Livingston, Centre for Environmental and Climate Research, Lunds universitet

CEC - Centrum för miljö- och klimatforskning Lunds universitet Lund 2015

# **Table of Contents**

ABSTRACT	3
KEYWORDS	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	8
1. INTRODUCTION	10
1. 1 PURPOSE	11
1.2 Posed Questions	11
2. BACKGROUND	12
2.1 CLIMATE CHANGE	12
2.1.1 SEA-LEVEL RISE	12
2.1.2 EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS	13
2.1.3 WATER STRESS	13
2.2 GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF IMPACTS	13
2.3 CLIMATE JUSTICE	15
2.3.1 HISTORICAL RESPONSIBILITY	15
2.3.2 ANALYSING CLIMATE CHANGE THROUGH CLIMATE JUSTICE	15
2.3.3 ADDRESSING CLIMATE JUSTICE	16
2.3.4 LEVEL OF DEVELOPMENT	17
2.4 CLIMATE REFUGEES AND CLIMATE MIGRANTS	18
2.4.1 NUMBERS	18
2.4.2 THE QUESTION OF DEFINITION	19
2.4.3 CURRENT INTERNATIONAL POLICY ON CLIMATE MIGRATION	20
3. METHOD AND MATERIALS	21
3.1 SELECTION OF METHOD	21
3.2 LIMITATIONS	22
4. CASE STUDY - THE MALDIVES	23
5. RESULTS	25
5.1 SUGGESTED MECHANISMS	25
5.1.2 International Policy Considerations	2 <b>5</b> 27
6 ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION	30

6.1 Case Study	30
6.2 SUGGESTED SOLUTIONS	31
6.3 CLIMATE JUSTICE AS A FOUNDATION FOR CLIMATE MIGRANT POLICY	31
6.4 CHALLENGES	32
7. CONCLUSION	34
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	36
REFERENCES	38

# **Abbreviations**

AOSIS - Alliance of Small Island States

COP – Conference of the Parties

GHG - Greenhouse Gas

GNP - Gross National Product

IDP – Internally Displaced Person

IPCC – Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

OHCHR - Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights

UNDP – United Nations Development Programme

UNFCCC - United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UNHCR - United Nations Higher Commission for Refugees

# I. Introduction

The disproportionate relationship between those responsible for current climate change and those who will be affected the most calls for innovative and multi-layered international policy (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009). Climate Justice is frequently brought up in the international climate debate but still remains little more than an ideal (Fisher, 2014). The situation today is defined by a number of intertwined factors such as economy, human rights and level of development, resulting in an issue that is very hard to handle. The international community needs to address the justice aspect of the situation in order to create sustainable solutions with highest possible standard of living for all (Running, 2014).

This results in the question; what are rich countries' responsibilities? Right now, lowering emissions is seen as an economic drain and developed countries have been unwilling to take on too big a burden in order to avoid slowing or stopping the economic growth of their country (Shah, 2012).

In September a man from Kiribati was the first to seek status as a climate refugee. The highest court in New Zealand declined the appeal, saying that the man wasn't subject to 'serious harm' and could be protected by his own government in Kiribati (Dastgheib, 2015). The outcome clearly shows that there is a gap in international law where people displaced by climate change fall.

The 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees only includes political refugees and deals with them individually. One of the major differences between political refugees and climate migrants is that climate migrants are not fleeing because of an oppressive government; in general they would like to keep their existing leadership and stay within their own country if possible (Biermann and Boas, 2008). The question of policy development concerning climate migrants is therefore one of lasting and great changes to current programs or development of entirely new mechanisms. UNHCR might not even be the best agency to deal with this problem, the World Bank or the UN Development Programme (UNDP) could possibly be a better foundation to start from when forming these new international policies (Biermann and Boas, 2008).

One country that is especially vulnerable is the Maldives. The Maldivian government has been pushing for climate change mitigation since 1987 and raising concerns over the risk the impending situation that sea level rise might lead to for their low-lying islands (Knox, 2009). To highlight the reality of climate change and climate migration a case study of the Maldives' situation will be utilised, describing what has happened and what measures they have called for.

Depending on the number of climate migrants, existing international mechanisms might not suffice (Burkett, 2011). When incorporating climate justice as an ideal within international policy development, responsibility falls upon developed countries to provide aid and support to developing countries concerning the matter of climate migrants. Extensive mechanisms in form of transportation, accommodation and integration will need to be developed from a local to an international scale to adequately handle an increased number of climate migrants.

### I. I Purpose

The field of climate justice has been emerging within the international debate on climate change during the last couple of years. However, the field is relatively unknown among the general population. The same is true about the question of climate migrants. The general population might know that there is a potential problematic situation in the future but not the magnitude of, or possible solutions to it.

This study will draw on existing knowledge and mechanisms regarding climate migrants to paint a picture that shows advantages and disadvantages of the existing proposals. It will also address how the concept of climate justice is related to climate migration policy.

### 1.2 Posed Questions

What solutions have been suggested for dealing with climate migrants and what are their advantages and disadvantages?

What is climate justice's role in relation to climate migration policy?

# 2. Background

### 2.1 Climate Change

The risk of severe climate change is clear, the vast majority of scientists agree on this. In the Fourth Assessment Report from the IPCC the global mean temperature increase between the periods of 1980–1999 and 2080–2099 ranged between 1.8°C to 4.0°C for the best estimation (Caney, 2014). For the 'likely range' during the same period, temperature increase varied between 1.1°C and 6.4°C. This will inevitably have major effects on several natural processes and system, possibly leading to catastrophic outcomes for a large part of life on earth (Caney, 2014).

It has been estimated that by 2050 global CO2 emissions should be between 50-85% below 2000 level in order to avoid warming above 2 °C. The burning of fossil fuels need to be replaced with sustainable energy alternatives. One major issue is that historically, development has been made possible through high-energy intensity paths (Moellendorf, 2012).

When analysing results of climate impacts it is crucial to remember that increased climate change and higher temperatures will lead to even worse damages and less ability to adapt within human populations (Gemenne, 2010).

#### 2.1.1 Sea-level rise

Before this century is over, sea levels are estimated to rise between 0,19 and 0,58 meters, according to the IPCC (Gemenne, 2010). Melting of Antarctic and Greenland ice sheet seem to be faster than predicted according to new research, resulting in even faster sea-level rise. This more recent research estimates the rise to be between 0,5 and 1 meter at the end of the century (Knox. 2009). Millions of people might suffer from flooding each year before 2080 (Gemenne, 2010). Low-lying areas with high population density and low adaptive ability in combination with those areas already suffering from other environmental issues such as collapsing of coastal areas and storms are particularly vulnerable. However, the rising of sea levels is fairly

predictable, resulting in the opportunity to plan out adaptation and identify possible impacted populations before they are affected (Gemenne, 2010).

#### 2.1.2 Extreme weather events

Flooding, tropical cyclones, droughts and heat waves are all extreme weather events. The IPCC has predicted that all of these will increase by the end of the century, possibly acting as push-factors for migration (Gemenne, 2010). When considering extreme weather events in relation to migration it is however of utmost important to consider the fact that much of this displacement can be temporary. Not all of these events result in permanent damage, creating the possibility for migrants to return home once the land is restored. This creates a need for mechanisms dealing with this through temporary protection status, something different from permanent migration. Still, extreme weather events can also result in damages or changes so fundamental that people are not able to return, meaning that mechanisms will also need to include permanent migration (Gemenne, 2010).

#### 2.1.3 Water stress

Changes to mountain glacier melting, droughts and salt-water intrusion as a result of rising sea levels will all contribute to shortages in freshwater. Areas dependent on freshwater from melting snow covers and glaciers will be heavily impacted (Gemenne, 2010). The combination of declining freshwater availability and increasing demand will very likely intensify the issue. Whether water stress leads to increased migration is greatly disputed (Gemenne, 2010), it is a reason to migrate and migration patterns have changed with water stress but when faced with droughts there are several adaptation strategies and international migration even tends to decrease during droughts (Gemenne, 2010).

# 2.2 Geographic distribution of impacts

The final ability to adapt and level of vulnerability in relation to climate change is a result of many contributing factors such as the nation's financial and institutional sector's ability to adjust to changed conditions, level of direct natural resource reliance, GDP per capita, societal safety nets and poverty level. Climate change can be a major disturbance but other

environmental issues, conflict, demography changes, disease, colonialism and post colonialism all combine to create the final opportunity for well-being and general livelihood (Thomas & Twyman, 2005).

Climate change will increase already high numbers of people being impacted or at risk of flooding and extreme weather events. The North African and Asian mega deltas are especially vulnerable. Something crucial to consider when comparing communities impacted by climate change is that risk and vulnerability are two different things. Communities might share the same risk for an impact, but their vulnerability is decided by ability to cope with the possible outcome, this is partly decided by poverty level and infrastructure quality (Moellendorf, 2012). The IPCC stated that the actual physical impact partly determines vulnerability but that a natural system or population's ability to adjust is the factor that decides the level of vulnerability. The ability to adjust is largely determined by the nations development level, poverty limits the ability to adapt whilst technology and resources improves it (McAdams, 2011).

Like blame for the climate change situation today, its impacts will also be unevenly distributed. Low-latitude countries are predicted to suffer 80% of damages from climate change (Mendelsohn, 2009). Developing nations tend to have agriculture, forestry and tourism as their main economic sectors- three of the sectors that will be most affected by climate change consequences such as extreme weather events and change in weather patterns. Farmland will be dried out; by 2080 a fifth of the farmland in Africa will be under severe stress and many of the countries with the worlds' lowest level of food security will be the ones most affected by agricultural loss (The Economist, 2009, Mendelsohn, 2009).

Out of the 15 largest cities of the developing world, ten are at risk of destruction from coastal floods and/or sea-level rise including Cairo, Mumbai and Shanghai. Floodplains in East and South Asia have been areas with high concentrations of both people and economic action for a very long time; climate change impacts pose serious threats to these regions (The Economist, 2009). Approximately 10% of the total population in the world lives at or below 10 m in relation to the sea level, putting them at risk of severe impacts, primarily from sea-level rise (Moellendorf, 2012). Climate change is predicted to lead to a decrease in freshwater availability in Southeast, East, South and Central Asia, this, combined with increasing freshwater demand and population growth, can lead to over one billion people being impacted by 2050. In Africa, between 75 million and 250 million people are going to suffer from

freshwater shortages by 2020 caused by climate change. Yet again a higher demand combined with these shortages can lead to very intense and problematic situations (Gemenne, 2010).

The cost of climate change paints an even more unequal picture. A 2°C rise in global average temperature has been calculated to cost approximately 1% of global GDP but the cost to India could be as high as 5% and for Africa 4%. Developing nations make up about 80% of the world's population but they bear a much bigger share of the burden (The Economist, 2009).

### 2.3 Climate Justice

#### 2.3.1 Historical Responsibility

It is clear today that the majority of the responsibility for the current level of climate change belongs to developed countries (The World Bank, 2004). Of the total carbon emissions released since 1850, two-thirds can be attributed to developed countries. Today, developing countries are catching up with developed; slightly more than half of all carbon emissions come from poor and middle-income nations. These nations' intended power stations would release as much carbon as total industrial emissions since 1850 during the span of their lifetime. Another factor to include today is that even though many developing nations are catching up in terms of absolute emissions, their emissions per capita is in many cases still low (The Economist, 2009).

#### 2.3.2 Analysing Climate Change Through Climate Justice

Climate change can be analysed through examination of a few overarching questions; who bears responsibility, who can handle consequences and how, who will be able to survive and possibly benefit from changing conditions and finally who will suffer the most from the outcomes (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009). Climate justice can be viewed from two standpoints, either from a burden-sharing perspective or from an avoiding harm and protecting victim's perspective (Caney, 2014). When looking at burden sharing, there are several principles through which a fair outcome can be reached. The most common approaches to sharing burden is by looking at who have drawn advantages from climate change triggering activities, who have caused the problem or who has the capacity to pay. The prevention perspective however

puts emphasis on averting impacts and protecting victims. From this an imperative to limit climate change is built (Caney, 2014).

Climate justice is not limited to distributional concerns connected to climate change internationally; national and local spread of environmental goods is also included within the concept. It furthers incorporates the need to promote participation and recognition. For developing countries, one of the most important aspects of climate justice is the unequal process of development (Fisher, 2014).

When addressing climate change it is important to consider the scale of governance. The divide does not only lie in impacts and responsibility, the ability to adapt for both individuals and groups differ too. Since impacts vary between social groups and geographic location, climate justice needs to be looked at from each individual's perspective in order to secure their well-being. Each individual carries out adaptation to climate change impacts and the scale is based on their own limits, economic ones or others. This means that some governance should be located directly at the level where impacts are happening, rather than at a global scale. Even though climate change is a global environmental issue and need to be addressed at a global level, local issues stemming from climate change are best handled at the local level. Adaptation to climate change will need responses at all levels in order to satisfyingly deal with the wide variety of impacts (Adger, 2001).

#### 2.3.3 Addressing Climate Justice

Since the UN Framework Convention On Climate Change (UNFCCC) was established in 1992, the world has been trying to address climate change through a comprehensive international approach. The principle of climate justice is embedded within the norm of "common but differentiated responsibilities" stated in the UNFCCC (Fisher, 2014). "Common but differentiated responsibilities" encompasses the fact that already industrialized nations have emitted the majority of greenhouse gases and through that gained a cheaper development path. Because of that, rich countries are responsible for action to limit climate change and also to help developing countries take adaptation measures against unavoidable consequences (Shah, 2012).

During climate negotiations there has been a constant predisposition in favour of certain matters and interests over others. The equity aspect connected to climate change is present in negotiations but far from prominent. The injustice between both poor and

rich regions and poor and rich people becomes evident with climate change, both regarding responsibility, division of resources and paths of development (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009).

To address equity when it come to climate change, a justice and human rights lens needs to be applied to questions of future development and efforts to slow down the climate change process. Efficiency and effectiveness is also promoted when measures are taken to move towards climate change equity. When working towards the earth being habitable in the future, available technical, financial and natural resources will go where the need is the greatest. It will be more efficient if choices are made now with the entire world in mind instead of postponing decision-making until the situation has deteriorated, being more expensive and harder to resolve. Thinking of previous negotiations, equity could be the most rational aspect to include when working towards reaching an agreement that most nations find just and that would result in actual action by those nations (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009).

#### 2.3.4 Level of Development

Another important justice aspect to consider in the climate change field is that all development is not equal. Already developed countries' continued growth contributes to raising the standard further above the average whilst growth in developing countries with increasing populations are needed to provide basic human needs (Shah, 2012).

Raising developing nations out of poverty has been a major challenge for both the individual nations themselves but also for the international community as a whole. Climate change has the power to eradicate decades of progress, worsening the situation even further. Developing nations stress the need for aid from developed countries to fulfil their development aspiration. Global injustice and poverty can be decreased through development; however, development can also aggravate climate change since development has a strong link to increased GHG emissions. On the other hand poverty can also lead to increased climate change and environmental damage, which in its turn can lead to increased underdevelopment and poverty, creating a feedback loop that hampers effort for getting communities out of poverty. (Okereke & Schroeder, 2011). Developing nations' representatives are continuously resisting the notion that economic restrictions are needed for emission reductions and are promoting that all international climate change agreements should allow for their right to keep on the track of sustainable but continued development (Running, 2014).

The climate change justice concept captures the equity aspect by addressing human rights, just development and political expression. With this both future injustice and the on-going mechanisms of power and development inequality is beginning to be redressed. To achieve this there need to be real transformation and changes that aims to do what's best for the entire world, looking beyond country borders (Adams & Luchsinger, 2009).

## 2.4 Climate Refugees and Climate Migrants

Migration due to environmental change is not a new phenomenon, it has been occurring since the dawn of man and is a regular adaptation response to avoid harm and gain higher resilience. The new factors in environmental migration is the scale, i.e. amount of people projected to move, the rate of which it is happening and that the underlying cause is anthropogenic triggered climate change (McAdam, 2011). Further factors that sets climate migrants apart from traditional refugees are that the migration is highly predictable, the relocation is permanent and the fact that the migrants themselves many times has very little to do with the reason behind the need to migrate, creating a situation where other nations hold moral responsibility. (Burkett, 2011) The trauma of having to leave your homeland and culture is shared by all people displaced by climate change. However, people living in very low-lying areas, particularly small islands, might lose their home country permanently without the possibility of ever going back (Burkett, 2011).

#### 2.4.1 Numbers

Flooding and extreme weather impacts are already putting millions at risk, 2,3 million are affected by landslides, 130 million by droughts, 244 million by tropical cyclones and 521 million by floods (Moellendorf, 2012). 200 million to 250 million climate migrants by 2050 is the most frequent estimation, however, the figures varies from 25 million to one billion. These estimations are based on many guesses and uncertainties but shows that this is a future large-scale problem (Burkett, 2011). However, the numbers are increasingly being questioned because of the uncertainty and the fact that it merely shows people at risk, people in poverty might not be able to move even though they are at risk of impacts from climate change. The large estimation span also makes it difficult to form policies since a world with 25 million migrants is

vastly different from one with one billion, creating the need for a highly flexible mechanism (Kothari, 2013). Migration caused by climate change is already happening; by 2008 20 million people were displaced because of climate change induced disasters like storms and floods (Burkett, 2011).

#### 2.4.2 The question of definition

UNHCR states that it is becoming increasingly problematic to categorize migrants, since the reason for displacement often is a combination of economic, conflict and environmental factors (McAdam, 2011). One crucial part in forming a cohesive mechanism for climate migrants is to define who is a climate migrant since this largely decides their legal status. The term refugee carries legal protection and existing mechanisms with it, formed to protect "traditional" refugees, which is why the term is so heavily debated. Migration caused by climate change is surrounded by vastly different conditions than that caused by conflict (Burkett, 2011). The 1951 Geneva Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees defines a refugee as someone at risk of oppression from the home state and lacking security currently being outside their "country of nationality or habitual residence". Another suggested term is "environmentally displaced person", connecting to UNHCR's term "internally displaced person" (IDP). This carries with it one major factor, it puts less obligation on the international community. (Biermann & Boas, 2008) Many researchers, politicians and legal specialists prefer to use the terms "climate displaced" or "climate migrants" (Burkett, 2011).

In 1995 Myers contributed with a possible definition, stating that environmental refugees are people who cannot sustain their livelihood in their home state due to extraordinary environmental circumstances such as natural disaster, water stress, deforestation, desertification, soil erosion and climate change and therefore seek permanent or semi-permanent relocation (Hartmann, 2010). It is becoming increasingly difficult to distinguish between voluntary and forced migration, something that might be even more common with environmental migration, since change happens gradually and the need for relocation might not be instant (Gemenne, 2010).

The push to migrate is however connected to several factors in addition to environmental change, such as countries or an individual's ability to adjust to outside pressure, political changes and economic development (Burkett, 2011). This is one of the major issues with defining migrants, finding a clear causal link between climate change and migration. (Kothari, 2013) The international narrative used, painting a picture of climate migrants as weak, passive

and with little will and strength to stay in their home state, is not only wrong but also highly damaging a constructive debate (McNamara & Gibson, 2009).

#### 2.4.3 Current International Policy on Climate Migration

Policies on migration have often overlooked environmental changes as migration factors whilst policies on the environment usually addresses migration as a result of environmental impacts and the humanitarian problem this is. There is no international system for people displaced due to impacts from climate change (Gemenne, 2010).

# 3. Method and Materials

#### 3.1 Selection of Method

The material was gathered through a systematic literature study of peer-reviewed articles, news articles and governmental reports. A systematic literature study defines a certain research question, thesis or problem by research of relevant literature, compilation of the found information and finally analysis and discussion of the found material (Taylor, n.d.).

To go more in depth, a case study of the Maldives and how their situation has been handled so far was conducted. This was to form a more concrete picture of how the question of climate migrants has appeared in international politics so far. The Maldives was selected due to the amount of information available on the situation and the fact that the Maldivian government has been active within climate change politics for a long time. The time span results in a case that paints a picture of how the situation for low-lying states has changes over the last decades.

The material was found through use of the search engine Google Scholar. Each search phrase related to a separate part of the posed questions. The search words used were; "Climate Justice", "Climate Refugees" and "Maldives + Climate Refugees".

Articles related to the topic were then thoroughly read and especially relevant sections were chosen out for background information and results. The research was built around and divided by the posed questions. Finally, analysis and discussion was carried out through revision of the result sections.

This method was chosen because there is a lot but dispersed knowledge on the subject. A literary study consolidates this knowledge to give an overview and make the situation clearer before further research can be made.

#### 3.2 Limitations

When investigating a problem that is heavily debated and far from resolved, like the question of how to deal with the impending problem of climate migration is that information and opinion varies widely. This is positive in the sense that it creates a broad foundation with many points of view but a limitation in the sense that it is very difficult to find a set focus. The limitation does not necessarily lie in the division of opinions but rather in the reason behind the division of opinions. It is a subject surrounded by uncertainty. The field of international policymaking is filled with insecurities and it is impossible to foresee exactly how a certain policy measure will play out. This makes analysis of international policy hard and ranking of different options arbitrary. But in order to describe the current situation and possible ways forward this approach is one out of many valid ones.

Considering the timeframe, this thesis was limited to research on suggestions for international climate migration policy. There might be relevant national policies developed or suggested that could be vital in final management of the question. The different suggested policies were not studied in detailed, something that needs to be done in order to fully determine their efficiency and effectiveness.

# 4. Case Study - The Maldives

The Maldives has a population of about 350,000, living dispersed on 200 islands. There is an additional 1000 islands, which are uninhabited. Approximately one-third lives in the capital Male' and the rest are spread out across the atoll. Most islands have very few inhabitants, 74 islands have less than 500 inhabitants. Fishing and tourism are the primary economic activity in the country.

The average elevation above sea level is 1.5 and the highest is less than 2,5 meters, a rise in sea level by 0,5 meters by 2100 would flood half of the capital city Male'. By 2025 15% would already be submerged. Sea surges, resulting in temporary flooding, of 0.7 meters is predicted to occur annually by 2050, flooding the majority of the Maldives. 40% of the population lives less than 100 meters from the coast, with very little, if any, high ground to seek refuge at and over 80% lives below one meter sea level elevation. Sea level rise will not only lead to death, contamination of already limited freshwater resources, degrade agricultural land, damage infrastructure, erode beaches and through that decrease the islands main economic income tourism, but also complicate rescue operations and assistance to the islands. Flooding will most likely result in uninhabitable islands before sea level rise submerges the land entirely (Knox, 2009).

Back in 1987, the president Maumoon Abdul Gayoom raised the issue of sea level rise and the fact that his country could become completely inundated before the U.N. General Assembly. The Maldives arranged a meeting with the other small islands states in 1989 to launch a movement with the purpose to raise awareness within the international community concerning the situation sea level rise could create (Knox, 2009). He further expressed that the people wished to stay in the home countries and that the only thing they really wanted was for the international community to step up and take the necessary steps to limit climate change and avoid impacts that would be detrimental to small island states (McNamara & Gibson, 2009). This was one of the very first times that a convention with binding commitments concerning climate change was requested. After this the Association of Small Island States (AOSIS) was formed, they have constantly been demanding stricter GHG restrictions in the United Nations

climate negotiations (Knox, 2009). In 2009 Nasheed arranged an underwater cabinet meeting in order to raise awareness of their situations urgency (Mail Foreign Service, 2009)

The connections between human rights law and climate change policy is a fairly new concept that the Maldives only recently began to promote. They are using a political, less challenging approach by linking policy to human rights and by doing so, avoiding pursuit of legal verdicts aimed at groups of or individual emitters. The aim is rather to guide the entire international policy process towards a human rights path (Knox, 2009).



(Mail Foreign Service, 2009)

Other important factors to consider

is that 16%, of the population is living below the poverty line, unemployment lies at 20% and that the tourism industry accounts for 30% of GNP, which affects the ability to adapt considerably and increases the dependency on aid from the outside (Kothari, 2013).

In 2008, right after President Nasheed was elected, a 'sovereign wealth fund' was established in order to prepare for a potential inundation of the country and make purchase of a new homeland possible. However, Maldivians didn't take kindly to this proposition, raising concern regarding becoming exiles and leaving their homes. Another potential solution that has been put forward by the government is population consolidation, to concentrate the population onto fewer islands. One challenge is that people are moving onto Malé, which is already heavily crowded, instead of onto other designated island for relocation (Kothari, 2013).

The President, Mohamed Nasheed, has expressed the will to obtain land in other countries with similar culture, like Sri Lanka or India, where all of the 300,000 Maldivians could relocate (Burkett, 2011). Another possible alternative was Australia since they have a large share of unoccupied land. The president emphasized that they did not wish to leave their home country but that they are forced to look at alternatives in order to avoid becoming refugees (Ramesh, 2008).

To provoke developed countries into action, the President stated that he sees little chance for the rest of the world if the Maldives can't be saved (Kothari, 2013).

# 5. Results

The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights released a report concerning human rights and climate change. It fails to address what individual states responsibilities should be and rejects that climate change directly breaches international human rights law but it does put forward one very important principle, that responsibilities are not limited geographically within each state. This means that states have a duty to ensure human rights internationally, something that has been heavily contested in certain developed states. This has great importance for climate change, since one of the main concerns is that it will jeopardize human rights globally (Knox, 2009).

# 5.1 Suggested Mechanisms

Table 1: Advantages and disadvantages of the different suggested mechanisms for climate refugee policy.

Mechanism	Advantages	Disadvantages
New Treaty	Can incorporate climate justice.	Time-consuming process.
Within UNFCCC	Main treaty already accepted by member states.	Climate justice is not included.  Reliance on uncertain factors such as technology development.
Supplementary	Main treaty already accepted	Climate justice is not included.
Protocol European	by member states	Environmental aspect not a
Convention on Human Rights.		fundamental part.

One overarching solution that has been proposed is to compose a new treaty or convention to include climate migrants in international law and give them their own refugee status (Gemenne, 2010). One such solution is to establish a climate-immigration quota system within the UN. Climate migrants would then be relocated based on either the receiving country's carbon emission, making sure those who bears most responsibility for climate change compensates, or based on the country's population size (McNamara & Gibson, 2009). Although, concern has been raised that creating a new and separate mechanism might not be optimal or plausible even though it could be easier to manage (Atapattu, 2009).

A couple of draft conventions have been put forward. One is a "Draft Convention on the International Status of Environmentally-Displaced Persons" from the French University of Limoges. It would be an independent convention including mechanisms for administration, responsibility sharing and assistance. Another one is a project based in Australia "Draft Convention for Persons Displaced by Climate Change", founding an international management for categorization and management of those displaced by climate change (McAdam, 2011).

The optimal thing is probably to make fundamental, large-scale changes such as reforming certain economic sectors and incorporate more factors than income to the concept of "well-being". However, this would require great effort from the international community and will probably not happen in a foreseeable future (Johnson, 2009).

Yet another mechanism is to form a "Protocol on the Recognition, Protection, and Resettlement of Climate Refugees" as a part of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (Biermann & Boas, 2008). Doing so would put the responsibility for administration to the COP meetings (Atapattu, 2009). This carries with it some crucial advantages, most existing parties to the convention would provide political support and already commonly accepted principles in the UNFCCC could be used to develop mechanisms for climate migrants (Biermann & Boas, 2008). Two principles that are a part of the UNFCCC, which might be especially important, are those of common but differentiated responsibilities and that states should contribute depending on their respective capabilities. This means that since climate change is a globally caused problem, it needs to be handled globally, that since developed nations have caused the majority of the problem they should bear the majority of the responsibility and that wealthier countries should bear a larger share of the cost for mitigating climate change (Bell, 2011). The general opinion is however that mechanisms with a base in the UNFCCC are very problematic. It is crucial to address justice and climate change together,

developing states are highly unlikely to agree to mechanisms where this is not the case. Current international policies need to be developed and supplemented to deal with current and future events. The existing mechanisms are based on assumptions that might be too uncertain, for example the reliance on development of technology, when it comes to forming systematic but flexible mechanisms (Kothari, 2013).

Another option of adding to an existing treaty is to form a supplementary protocol to the existing European Convention on Human Rights on a healthy and safe environment as further protection of human rights and to acknowledge environmental degradation and climate change (McAdam, 2011). Incorporating climate migration as a part of existing Human Rights law has been put forward as the best alternative multiple times, especially since a large share of the displacement will be internal. This would encompass the specific issue of people's well being whilst offering a very adjustable framework. (Hartmann, 2010) However, climate migrants are as previously mentioned in a unique situation, very different from anything currently regulated by law. This means that trying to include them into existing laws may not be optimal since their situation is so vastly different. (Hartmann, 2010)

#### **5.1.2 International Policy Considerations**

A difference between climate change induced displacement and political displacement is that climate change impacts are fairly predictable and happens gradually, making planning possible in a way that is almost impossible for political displacement. One important thing to incorporate, regardless of the chosen mechanism, is the thoughts and opinions of the affected people. As previously mentioned, vulnerability is much more than physical impact, the social system of the country plays a crucial part in the outcome of how, who and how many people that end up migrating (Kothari, 2013).

Concern has been raised that a treaty addressing the relocation of affected communities might be counterproductive, missing alternatives where affected population could stay in their homes or at least home countries longer, and instead rushing the migrations process (McAdam, 2011). Incorporating mechanisms for climate migrants into each country's own adaptation schemes are probably easier to achieve (Atapattu, 2009).

Mechanisms should be developed to adequately handle migrants on all levels; regional, national and international efforts are needed with public establishments both in the

home country and the receiving country. The final policy will need to evaluate at risk communities, when resettlement is likely to occur, where these migrants will relocate, develop necessary infrastructure, aiding in the actual relocation process and finally development of integration mechanisms in order to incorporate the migrants in the new host community. A final opinion that has been raised is that drastic measures need to be taken regarding international law and in order to protect climate migrants; binding agreements need to be reached soon (Burkett, 2011).

The phenomenon of entire legally recognized nations disappearing creates a completely new situation; something that existing international law is not designed for. Completely new international mechanisms might be needed in order to adequately handle this since the issue of environmentally driven migration is not best handled through universally applicable and uniform laws but rather through individually adaptable law (Burkett, 2011).

Through international law and the UN Charter, states are obliged to provide international collaboration in regards to human rights. State's policies must promote and work together with the principle of human rights when participating in international negotiations. This connects directly to the issue of climate change consequences and the field of Climate Justice. The right to pursue development puts the responsibility on individual nations to make sure that fundamental resources are equally and adequately accessible whilst the international community holds the responsibility to work towards efficient collaboration and just development policies. If climate change negotiations are unsuccessful, the right to development might be at risk (Cardona, 2009).

# 6. Analysis and Discussion

### 6.1 Case Study

The case study of the Maldives shows the desperation and realization of urgency that vulnerable societies experience related to the climate change crisis. Climate change impacts will hit hard against, if not completely destroy, the economy. All of the countries main sectors will be affected. This is even more worrisome when the fact that a large part of population lives below the poverty line is considered.

The less provocative approach that the Maldives are promoting where individuals are not targeted but instead the grand underlying problem with human rights issues and injustice might be less straight forward but possibly more effective in reaching a long-term global solution, especially when it comes to climate migration.

Purchasing of other land is probably the most extreme and controversial measure that has been suggested. First and foremost, moving an entire population comes with a number of logistical concerns such as transportation, new accommodation, cultural adjustment and opportunities for the population to make a living. Second, there is a major justice concern related to this. The Maldives holds very little responsibility for the emissions that might lead to inundation, for them to then have to pay for new land is highly debatable. This clearly shows the injustice of climate change. One country has benefitted from activities that lead to climate change, a different country that has not gained these benefits suffers from the consequences and is then forced to pay to save themselves from them.

Like the president said, there might be little hope for rest of the world since the case of the Maldives proves that the world still is largely passive when it comes to climate migration. However, the case also shows the determination within vulnerable countries, a determination that could be one of the factors that hopefully drives the international community into taking on adequate commitments. The difference between the situation today and when they first started requesting measures in 1987 is that the global community is finally starting to realize the reality

and urgency of climate change that has been recognized within vulnerable communities for decades.

### **6.2** Suggested Solutions

There are many suggested solutions and it is very difficult to clearly decide which one would result in the best situation for both migrants and host countries. All suggestions have advantages and disadvantages. One primary factor that causes this is that the issue of climate migration is both internal and international. Some mechanisms might be better for internal migrations whilst other options are better for international.

Since the nature of climate migration is so vastly different from traditional political migration in both a strictly quantitative sense but also when it comes to reasons behind and factors surrounding climate migration, such as the fact that the people often wish to keep their government, it is best to separate them.

There are two overarching categories; adding to existing mechanisms or creating a completely new mechanism for climate migrations. Adding to an existing mechanism has one major advantage, countries have already signed and ratified it, making the process much quicker. However, it is far from clear which existing mechanism that most suitable for incorporation of climate migrants. A mixture of existing human rights law and environmental treaties could possibly result in a cohesive mechanism.

Nation bound adaptation schemes, financed by an international adaptation fund, could result in effort and funding being located where it is needed the most but this would have to be accompanied by international mechanisms as well in order to handle cross border displacement (Atapattu, 2009).

### 6.3 Climate Justice as a Foundation for Climate Migrant Policy

The justice aspect in relation to climate change should and needs to be incorporated in the entire process of building mechanisms, in the process of decision-making, in the framework's response mechanisms, in the connection between developed and developing nations and also in examining the interaction between climate change impacts and other disturbances on people's lives (Thomas & Twywin, 2005). But climate justice is still just an ideal; it is not a set principle.

This weakens the potential of climate justice severely. The principle of common but differentiated responsibilities in the UNFCCC incorporates a large share of the climate justice field and is an alternative to build arguments on and primarily promote developed countries into taking responsibility.

If a new treaty is formed climate justice can be incorporated. Since the climate justice concept encompasses the most important fundamental factors of climate migration it can be a very cohesive basis for policy. However, the issue of climate migration is getting increasingly urgent, there might not be time to form a completely new treaty.

### 6.4 Challenges

When the form of the treaty has been settled, one challenge will be to distinguish climate change from other reasons behind migration (Burkett, 2011). It is very difficult to differentiate between people moving because of climate change impacts and people moving because of poverty, something that has been observed in slums of Bangladesh where both of these pushfactors are present. However, if climate change deepens poverty, then it can be seen as the contributing factor, even though it isn't the direct physical impacts of climate change that drives migration. To instead label the entire phenomenon as 'survival migration' has been put forward to highlight the fact that migration occurs as a result of many interacting factors. It can be valuable to think about this when developing international treaties and with what institution responsibility should lie (McAdams, 2011).

The fact that there has been a general unwillingness to form a treaty presents a daunting challenge (McAdams, 2011). Looking at climate negotiations today and the many difficulties surrounding both forming of the actual treaty but also implementation of the finalized treaty. It is not unbelievable that negotiations concerning climate migrants will be just as controversial. Even if a treaty was settled, implementation of it still poses a challenge. Current law on refugees is obviously not enough to handle the relatively small flow of refugees in the world today, proving that the actual law only is a part of the entire mechanism, implementation and enforcement is what creates the final situation (McAdams, 2011).

Considering the fact that the 10 million refugees present in the world today is seen as a major challenge and that there is no cohesive or durable solution for this situation, handling a possibly 20 times higher flow in the future will clearly need great effort from the entire international community. One thing that differs between climate negotiations and future climate migrant negotiations is that climate mitigation is in a sense voluntary but when climate migration is induced the international community will not have a choice, migration will happen. Planning for this migration will only facilitate the process for both migrants and host countries.

# 7. Conclusion

The world is not just. Costs, benefits and responsibility for climate change are unevenly distributed between developed and developing countries. In order to rectify this measures will need to be taken (Running, 2014). By working with a foundation in climate justice the well-being of humans is put in focus. However, Climate Justice is not a set principle, it is still merely an ideal and too indistinct to use as something legally binding. It can be used to share responsibility, something that is crucial when forming international treaties.

Many different, widely varying policies have been suggested for dealing with the impending problem of climate migrants. There are mainly two different options, either climate migration is included in existing mechanisms, such as the UNFCCC or creating an entirely new treaty that only deals with climate migration.

Further research should be made on the efficiency on the various suggested mechanisms, especially concerning economy and integration. Had I had more time I would have gone further in depth on the different suggestions to paint a more detailed picture of how they would appear in reality.

As a final note, it should be said that the most important aspect to deal with when it comes to climate migrants is climate change. It is easy to forget about this when the focus lies on developing mechanisms for migration, when the best possible outcome would be to avoid the reasons behind migration all together (Johnson, 2009).

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor Jasmine Livingston for supporting me throughout the process and for bearing with me when I was dithering. Without her this paper would never have seen the light of day.

A final thank to my fellow classmates, for all the support and discussions, for early morning and late night studying and most importantly, for three amazing years together. The passion for environmental issues shown by them is what makes me believe in a better future.

# References

- Adams, Barbara, and Gretchen Luchsinger.

  Climate Justice for a Changing Planet: A

  Primer for Policy Makers and NGOs.

  United Nations, 2009. Web. 3 Sep. 2015.
- Adger, W. Neil. "Scales of governance and environmental justice for adaptation and mitigation of climate change." Journal of International Development 13.7 (2001): 921-931.
- Atapattu, Sumudu. "Climate change, human rights, and forced migration: implications for international law." Wis. Int'l LJ 27 (2009): 607.
- Bell, Derek. "Global climate justice, historic emissions, and excusable ignorance." The Monist (2011): 391-411.
- Biermann, Frank, and Ingrid Boas. "Preparing for a warmer world: Towards a global governance system to protect climate refugees." Global Environmental Politics 10.1 (2010): 60-88.
- Biermann, Frank, and Ingrid Boas. "Protecting climate refugees: the case for a global protocol." Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development 50.6 (2008): 8-17.
- Burkett, Maxine. "In search of refuge: Pacific Islands, climate-induced migration, and the legal frontier." Asia Pacific Issues 98 (2011).

- Caney, Simon. "Two kinds of climate justice: avoiding harm and sharing burdens." Journal of Political Philosophy 22.2 (2014): 125-149.
- Cardona, Natalia. "Climate Justice for a Changing Planet: Placing the Right to Development and Justice at the Heart of the Response to Climate Change." UN Non-Governmental Liaison Service. N.p., 2009. Web. 25 Apr. 2015.
- Dastgheib, Shabnam. 'Kiribati Climate Change Refugee Told He Must Leave New Zealand'. The Guardian 2015: n. pag. Print.
- Fisher, Susannah. "The Emerging Geographies of Climate Justice." The Geographical Journal. 5 Mar. 2014. Web. 2 Sep. 2015
- Gemenne, François. "Climate-induced population displacements in a 4 C+ world."

  Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 369.1934 (2011): 182-195.
- Hartmann, Betsy. "Rethinking climate refugees and climate conflict: rhetoric, reality and the politics of policy discourse." Journal of International Development 22.2 (2010): 233-246.
- Johnson, Seth. "Climate Change and Global Justice: Crafting Fair Solutions for Nations

- and Peoples." Harv. Envtl. L. Rev. 33 (2009): 297.
- Knox, John H. "Linking human rights and climate change at the United Nations."

  Harvard Environmental Law Review 33
  (2009).
- Kothari, Uma. "Political discourses of climate change and migration: resettlement policies in the Maldives." The Geographical Journal 180.2 (2014): 130-140.
- Mail Foreign Service. "Maldives Government Highlights the Impact of Climate Change... by Meeting Underwater." N.p., 20 Oct. 2009. Web. 15 Oct. 2015.
- McAdam, Jane. "Climate change, forced migration, and international law." Oxford University Press, 2012.
- McAdam, Jane. "Swimming against the tide: Why a climate change displacement treaty is not the answer." International Journal of Refugee La. 2011.
- McNamara, Karen Elizabeth, and Chris Gibson.

  "We do not want to leave our land': Pacific ambassadors at the United Nations resist the category of 'climate refugees."

  Geoforum 40.3 (2009): 475-483.
- Mendelsohn, Robert. "Economic Growth and Climate Change." Rep. no. 60. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank, 2009. Web. 19 Apr. 2015.
- Moellendorf, Darrell. "Climate change and global justice." Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 3.2 (2012): 131-143.

- Okereke, Chukwumerije, and Heike Schroeder.

  "How can justice, development and climate change mitigation be reconciled for developing countries in a post-Kyoto settlement?." Climate and Development 1.1 (2009): 10-15.
- Ramesh, Randeep. "Paradise almost lost: Maldives seek to buy a new homeland." The Guardian 10 (2008).
- Running, Katrina. "Towards climate justice: How do the most vulnerable weigh environment-economy trade-offs?." Social science research 50 (2015): 217-228.
- Taylor, Dena. "The Literature Review: A Few Tips On Conducting It." University of Toronto. Health Sciences Writing Centre, n.d. Web. 4 Nov. 2015.
- The Economist. "A Bad Climate for Development." 17 Sept. 2009. Web. 4 Sep. 2015.
- The United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights. "Report of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights on the Relationship between Climate Change and Human Rights." General Assembly. N.p., 15 Jan. 2009. Web. 8 Oct. 2015.
- Thomas, David SG, and Chasca Twyman.

  "Equity and justice in climate change adaptation amongst natural-resource-dependent societies." Global Environmental Change 15.2 (2005): 115-124.

39



